Literature Review on Therapeutic Justice and Problem Solving Courts

by Glen Luther and Mansfield Mela with Victoria J Bae

University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada (December 2013) ©Glen E Luther, 2013

Contents*

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Psychiatry
 - 2.1 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
 - 2.2 Schizophrenia
 - 2.3 Substance Abuse (Addiction)
 - 2.4 Personality Disorders
 - 2.5 Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders
 - 2.6 Intellectual Disabilities
 - 2.7 Other Major Mental Illness Groups
 - 2.8 Aboriginal Population/Ethnicity
 - 2.9 Effect of Culture on Treatment
- 3 Forensic Psychiatry
 - 3.1 Deinstitutionalization
 - 3.2 Criminality
 - 3.3 The 1992 Reform of the Criminal Code
 - 3.4 Alternative Sentencing
- 4 Therapeutic Justice
 - 4.1 Definition
 - 4.2 Restorative Justice and Other Related Concepts
 - 4.3 Problem Solving Courts
 - 4.3.1 Drug Treatment Courts
 - 4.3.2 Mental Health Courts
 - 4.3.3 Domestic Violence Courts
 - 4.3.4 Community Courts
 - 4.3.5 Indigenous or Aboriginal Courts
 - 4.3.6 Youth Court & Sentencing Circles
 - 4.3.7 Gambling Treatment Courts
 - 4.3.8 Homeless Courts
 - 4.3.9 John School Diversion Programs
 - 4.4 Therapeutic Measures in Traditional Judicial System and Courts
 - 4.4.1 Criminal Code Sections on Diversion & Therapeutic Sentencing Delays
 - 4.4.2 Curative Discharges for Impaired Drivers
 - 4.4.3 Community Treatment Orders
 - 4.4.4 Aboriginal Sentencing Gladue Factors
- 5 References

^{*} The research in this document is current to August 31, 2012. The authors acknowledge valuable research assistance from the following students: Victoria J. Bae, Adam North, Julia Bidonde and Connor Anear. Any errors are our responsibility.

1 INTRODUCTION

Mental healthcare in Canada, as with many other western countries, began in the 'poor houses' in the 1800's. They evolved into mental hospitals over time and existed until the 20th century. As these facilities became overcrowded, the concept of deinstitutionalization emerged which shifted care into psychiatric units within in general hospitals and the community. This led to a considerable reduction in the bed capacity of Canadian mental hospitals between early 1960s and late 1970s matched only by a comparatively smaller increase in the number of beds in psychiatric units. Insufficient professional care, combined with the unprepared communities who failed to provide the necessary care originally envisioned by the decision makers of deinstitutionalization, rendered people with mental illness vulnerable to various societal problems, including homelessness and extreme poverty. Most notable of the negative outcomes of deinstitutionalization on the mentally ill persons was the sudden increase in their contact with the criminal justice. The frequent conflict of mentally ill offenders with the law brought about the revolving door patient syndrome and increasing amount of collaboration has been made between law and psychiatry. Therapeutic justice, which aims to address the root of the criminal offending in order to provide a more holistic and less punitive method for the troubled groups within the society, is the foundation of many such collaborative efforts. Problem solving courts are one of the many ways in which therapeutic justice has been employed to tackle complex social problems that underlie or accompany criminal behavior.

1.1 Rationale

Despite the paramount need, no concerted mental health strategy exists between the legal and medical sectors of Saskatoon. Empirical research on mentally ill offenders as a population has been scarce. A few studies provided basic description of regional review board populations. ¹⁻⁶ Also, administrative reports are produced on a regular basis by most provincial governments, individual review boards and correctional services and more socio-demographic information is available through these channels. ⁷ Recently, a thorough needs assessment and an environmental scan of the Saskatchewan forensic mental health system has been conducted. ⁸This project will provide information on the concept of therapeutic justice and forensic psychiatry. The aim is to build an academic bridge between the legal and medical system with regards to the care and management of mentally ill clients.

This will be followed by an exploration of tangible, practicable management options as seen in the currently operated Canadian problem solving courts. It is hoped that this information will lead to the establishment of a mental health court in the near future. In order to achieve this goal, various stakeholder groups including but not limited to the Department of Psychiatry, Crown Prosecutor's Offices and the police will be consulted.

Information from this study will provide a better understanding of the mentally ill population in the criminal justice system and of the field of forensic psychiatry. The role of the various professional groups and organizations, such as the provincial review board, will also be better illustrated. It is anticipated that the conclusions drawn from this project will largely complete the planning stage and facilitate the actual implementation of Mental Health Court Saskatoon. Finally, there are several similar research projects in Canada geared toward advancement in the knowledge and clinical management of forensic

populations. Together with the results of other regional efforts, outcomes of this study will provide a Canadian perspective, thereby contributing to the national knowledge on forensic populations as a whole while providing platforms on which relevant regional programs may be adjusted to best serve the respective communities.

2 PSYCHIATRY

Psychiatry is a medical specialty devoted to the study and treatment of mental disorders. It is often subspecialized according to various categorization methods including the client's age group (such as child and adolescent psychiatry), the types of disorders and disorder and the mode of treatment (such as pharmacopsychiatry). Forensic psychiatry, with its target population of mentally ill offenders, represents one of the most complex and challenging subspecialties of psychiatry.

2.1 Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders

An accurate diagnosis of a medical disorder is the first step of psychiatry and requires a clear description of the disorder and determination of defining features. Historically, the subjective nature of mental illness has made the fulfillment of this prerequisite difficult. but description of mental illness by Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) provides an unambiguous and scientific characterization of psychiatric disorders. The issue of shared symptoms has been yet another hurdle in psychiatric diagnosis. There is a substantial overlap of symptoms among different disorders and characterization based on distinctive sets of symptoms is difficult. DSM circumvents this problem by using a categorical classification system, in which mental disorders that share a set of symptoms are grouped together into 16 categories of disorders and an additional list of conditions by a few distinguishing factors. This classification, based on shared and distinguishing features, is a logical alternative of classification based on etiology because it is not possible to identify a single, principal cause of a mental disorder. Classification based on etiology because it is not possible to identify a single, principal cause of a mental disorder.

DSM explores five axes, or dimensions, of the patient's life and allows the collection of additional information relevant for diagnosis and treatment. Axis I covers the majority of disorders, and particularly clinical disorders, such as autism spectrum disorder, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia. Axis II encompasses personality disorders and intellectual disabilities, such as antisocial personality disorder, narcissistic personality disorder, and obsessive-compulsive personality disorder. The other three axes include medical and physical conditions, psychosocial and environmental factors, and assessments of functioning for children and youth. ¹¹

Finally, in many cases, symptoms are not externalized and therefore objective clinical manifestations are absent. Psychiatric diagnosis must rely on subjective data such as self-reports and observations by relevant parties, which makes the diagnostic process more susceptible to confounding compared to diagnosis of other types of medical conditions that use objective data such as biological markers. The patient may not accurately express their conditions to the attending professional either deliberately or because they lack the narrative power. The diagnosis may also be affected by the professional's biases or by a selective rather than exhaustive use of available data. DSM IV-TR emphasizes that its categories of mental disorder are not 'completely discrete entities with absolute boundaries.' When multiple diagnoses have been made, the

condition that occasioned the admission is designated as the principal diagnosis. DSM IV-TR also recommends usage of severity and course specifiers as well as information on the recurrence of any previous psychiatric disorders. Global assessment of functioning (GAF) scores, which shows how the mental illness affects one's functionality in a scale of 1 to 100, are typically factored in when deciding which severity specifier to use. Most psychiatric conditions that affect the main clientele of problem solving courts are included in the DSM.

Table 1.1 Brief descriptions and an example of DSM IV-TR Diagnostic method. 11

	Classification		Example
Axis I	Clinical Disorders	292.23	Major Depressive Disorder, Single
	Other Conditions That May Be A Focus of		Episode, Severe Without Psychotic
	Clinical Attention		Features
		305.00	Alcohol Abuse
Axis II	Personality Disorders	301.6	Dependent Personality Disorder,
	Mental Retardation		Moderate, In Partial Remission
			Frequent Use of Denial
Axis III	General Medical Conditions	None	
Axis IV	Psychosocial and Environmental Problems	Threat of Job Loss	
Axis V	Global Assessment of Functioning (on a scale of 1-100)	GAF = 35	

Table 1.2 An illustration of a personality disorder is diagnosed. 11

General diagnostic criteria for personality disorder

- A. An enduring pattern of inner experience and behavior that deviates markedly from the expectations of the individual's culture. This pattern is manifested in two (or more) of the following areas:
 - (1) cognition (i.e., ways of perceiving and interpreting self, other people, and events)
 - (2) affectivity (i.e., the range, intensity, lability, and appropriateness of emotional response)
 - (3) interpersonal functioning
 - (4) impulse control
- B. The enduring pattern is inflexible and pervasive across a broad range of personal and social situations.
- C. The enduring pattern leads to clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas of functioning.
- D. The pattern is stable and of long duration, and its onset can be traced back at least to adolescence or early adulthood.
- E. The enduring pattern is not better accounted for as a manifestation or consequence of another mental disorder.
- F. The enduring pattern is not due to the direct physiological effects of a substance (e.g., a drug of abuse, a medication) or a general medical condition (e.g., head trauma).

Diagnostic criteria for 301.6 dependent personality disorder

- has difficulty making everyday decisions without an excessive amount of advice and reassurance from others
- 2. needs others to assume responsibility for most major areas of his or her life
- 3. has difficulty expressing disagreement with others because of fear of loss of support or approval. Note: do not include realistic fears of retribution.
- 4. has difficulty initiating projects or doing things on his or her own (because of a lack of self-confidence in judgment or abilities rather than a lack of motivation or energy)
- 5. goes to excessive lengths to obtain nurturance and support from others, to the point of volunteering to do things that are unpleasant
- 6. feels uncomfortable or helpless when alone because of exaggerated fears of being unable to care for himself or herself
- 7. urgently seeks another relationship as a source of care and support when a close relationship ends
- 8. is unrealistically preoccupied with fears of being left to take care of himself or herself

The patient here satisfied the general diagnostic criteria for personality disorder and was then subsequently interviewed for more specific personality traits. This person had met most of the 301.6 diagnostic criteria and was therefore given a final diagnosis of dependent personality disorder.

This system has now been widely replaced by the introduction of the fifth version of the DSM. In this, the multiaxial system has been removed, new conditions added and a few streamlined. There are still controversies with the categories but the DSM 5 has defined mental disorder as "a syndrome characterized by clinically significant disturbance in an individual's cognition, emotion regulation or behavior that reflects a dysfunction in the psychological, biological or developmental processes underlying mental functioning...". This definition stresses the importance of thresholds of significant distress and dysfunction in social, occupational and other important activities.

2.2 Schizophrenia

Schizophrenia increases the likelihood of commission of different types of crimes including violent crime. It is interesting to note that the first arrest frequently happens before the individual has had any involvement with mental health services. This has the effect of making the justice system the first institution to deal with their mental health problems. A patient with schizophrenia is often at risk while in the custody of the justice system. While properly medicated mentally ill people commit fewer violent crimes than their peers without mental illness, co-occurrence of schizophrenia and substance abuse raises the chances of that person committing a violent crime. ¹⁵

2.3 Substance Abuse (Addiction) – why they are a difficult population (b/c of the dual diagnosis nature; and its potential to exacerbate and be exacerbated by MI)

Substance dependence or abuse, often used interchangeably with the term addiction, is one of the most common mental illnesses. ¹⁶ The biggest problem with understanding and treating substance abuse is defining it. ¹⁷ Also, people with addictions vary greatly in personal attributes such as past trauma and losses and as such American drug courts often divide people into specialty groups based on a few key attributes such as childhood history. ¹⁸ On the other hand, some other variables in treatment have been shown to affect almost all substance abusers in the same way. One such variable is the duration of time elapsed between the search or plea for treatment and actual treatment. It has been repeatedly shown that a delay in this duration increases the likelihood of the treatment failure. Sometimes such a delay in treatment is caused by the patients themselves who do not realize or refuse to acknowledge the addiction. This phenomenon is known as "impaired insight". ¹⁹

2.4 Personality Disorders

Two commonly found disorders in criminal offenders are antisocial personality disorder and narcissistic personality disorder. Antisocial personality disorder is defined by traits such as failure to conform to social norms and lack of respect for lawful behaviors. It is indicated by repeatedly inciting arrests, reckless disregard for safety of self or others and lack of remorse. The lack of remorse is an important feature and includes indifference toward or rationalization of hurting or mistreating others. Narcissistic personality disorder

is defined by preoccupation with fantasies of unlimited success, power, brilliance, beauty, or ideal love. Those suffering from either of these two personality disorders are also interpersonally exploitative, in that they take advantage of others to achieve their own ends, and lack empathy, in that they are unwilling to recognize or identify with the feelings and needs of others. Although not as common, borderline personality disorder by nature of its characteristic impulsivity, emotional dysregulation and aggressive outburst, occurs in sufficient numbers of offenders and is associated with elevated violent and general risks.

2.5 Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders

Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (FASD) are fairly prevalent in the criminal justice system and in Saskatchewan in general.²¹ Yet the disorder has only until recently become realized in the psychiatric system of nosology. Under the DSM 5, those affected by prenatal alcohol exposure (PAE) can be identified and likely diagnosed under Neurodevelopmental disorder – other specified, intellectual disability disorder and under conditions for future studies, neurobehavioural disorder due to PAE. ²² The neurological effects of fetal alcohol exposure often cause the sufferer to fail to conform to the social norms and render them susceptible to legal problems. ²² The biggest problem in the management of FASD patients is that the symptoms widely vary and it is difficult to identify the most common major issue to target. ²² Another problem in the management of FASD patients in the criminal justice system is that they often appear to be fit when they are in fact unfit.²¹ For example, a FASD witness is capable of repeating the oath from the short term memory without understanding the contents of it. This predisposes them to inadvertently committing perjury, which effectively changes their status from a witness to an accused. An accused may be able to answer affirmatively when asked if he can understand what is happening around him in the courtroom, but he may be simply answering automatically without understanding the question or his own answer. The treatment of FASD is further compounded by the fact that the permanent brain damage renders the sufferer incapable of rehabilitation.²² In the authors' view lawyers, including judges, often misunderstand the word "spectrum" in the condition's title. The spectrum relates to the brain domains affected in a given individual and not to the severity of the disorder. In each person with a diagnoses of FASD the diagnostician has determined that the individual has a significant impairment caused by maternal ingestion of alcohol.

Recently, with a growing attention on this special subpopulation of mentally ill offenders, many knowledgable people have suggested that an "external brain", in which other people, such as family, friends, or trained community members aid the individual with their decision-making process may help the sufferer make decisions which prevent a breach of the law—It also appears that probation orders work best when they are easily understandable and include positive instructions rather than simple prohibitions. With appropriate support delineated to match the neurocognitive dysfunction, those with FASD can be cared for, their suffering ameliorated and improvement sustained.

2.6 Intellectual Disabilities

Learning disabilities, formerly known as mental retardation, do not predispose the sufferer to a higher chance of offending.²² However, once involved with the criminal justice system, the sufferer has very different needs for rehabilitation. An interesting example of such special needs is rehabilitation for sexual offenders with cognitive deficits. Understanding the sometimes complex concept of consent can be problematic for people

with learning disabilities and rehabilitation must be tailored to accommodate their diminished capacity.

2.7 Other Mental Illness

Other disorders such as intermittent explosive disorder could be prevalent in a domestic violence court, and several of the disorders could be prevalent in mental health courts. Psychopathy, a rare mental condition made popular by frequent portrayal in popular media, is usually classified as an extreme form of antisocial personality disorder comorbid with other types of personality disorders. Dissociative identity disorder, commonly known as multiple personality, is yet another rare mental illness frequently portrayed in popular media. This is almost never seen in forensic population as it is in the general population. To date, there is no official record of a crime committed by a DID patient.

2.8 Aboriginal Population/Ethnicity

The Government of Canada reports that 16% of the national population is born outside the country and 10% are refugees.²³ One of the biggest challenges faced by immigrants and refugees is integration into the Canadian culture. Mental health can be influenced in the process by identification with a specific race or ethnic group along with social issues such as racism, discrimination and poverty, which often feed on each other and generate a vicious cycle.²³

2.8.1 Aboriginal People & Mental Health

Aboriginal peoples in Canada are not a homogeneous group. The umbrella term "Aboriginal people" include First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples, all of which differ substantially in language, customs, living circumstances and areas of residence.²³ In 2001, approximately one million Canadians (about 3% of the population) reported that they belonged to one of these 3 groups.²³

Aboriginal people tend toward a more holistic view of mental wellness. Health is a state of "balance" with family, community and larger environment. Many of the mental health problems afflicting Aboriginal communities today are believed to result from forced acculturation processes, both historical and ongoing.²³

In addition to immigrants and refugees, Aboriginal peoples further diversify the Canadian population and represent another susceptible group for mental illness. While 8% of all Canadians had consulted a mental health professional between 2004 and 2005, the proportion of Aboriginal people seeking help was as high as 17% depending on the group. It is thought that this figure would be even higher if mental health professionals and resources were available in northern and isolated areas. Aboriginal communities and communities with a high number of Aboriginal people exhibit a high substance abuse rate which leads to high prevalence of FASD. Frequently, this in turn leads to high crime rate. Aboriginal people living on reserve are especially likely to need help for mental health problems. Problems.

Factors affecting Aboriginal people are not unique to Canada. Aboriginal people in Australia have struggled for two centuries with similar losses of language, culture and lands. Other issues such as substance dependence, discrimination, homelessness, unemployment, poor health and lack of education have also been identified as contributors

of identity loss and reduced self-esteem.²⁴ There is "a continuing challenge raised by the complex relationship between Aboriginal people and the criminal justice system"²⁴ and Aboriginal people continue to be overrepresented in the Australian correctional systems. For example, the 2001 Australian census shows that 20% of the total prisoner population were Kooris people.²⁵

2.8.2 Effect of Culture on Treatment

Culture plays an important role in how an offender responds to treatment. For example, treatment for substance abuse is only effective when counselors are culturally competent with regards to the background culture of the clientele. Also, the Tupiq program, which is a sex offender treatment program tailored to accommodate the cultural characteristics of Inuit people, have shown effect after a long term failure of the undifferentiated general program. The multi-faceted program operates bilingually in Inuktitut and English on the basis that violence against women and children is a learned behaviour that can be modified. The program adopts a holistic approach, uses motivational techniques, refers to the offender's Inuit community and engages specialized Inuit facilitators that model the desired behaviour to help offenders identify and supplant their abusive behaviours. Sentencing circles are yet another example of the criminal justice system evolving to a higher cultural competence and employing therapeutic and restorative justice.

Culture and loss of culture may also play a role in instigating the initial criminal behaviour. For example, an American study found that African American men suffer from "cultural identity diffusion" in which a sense of self deteriorates and the sufferer retreats from committing to values and goals. Identity diffusion often leads to alienation of self from the society and increases the likelihood of criminal behaviour. Identity enhancement treatment is an effective way to curb identity diffusion and the subsequent criminal behaviour. The exact format of the treatment varies, but it generally involves increasing understanding and acceptance of one's self, environment, and culture. A similar attempt has been made in Canada to great success for young Aboriginal offenders. They were exposed to Aboriginal culture and activities in the wilderness and had greatly improved self-esteem and pro-social behaviour at the end of these programs. Drug treatment programs that focused on the cultural elements of Aboriginal people have been similarly successful. ³²

3 FORENSIC PSYCHIATRY

Forensic psychiatry is a highly specialized field of medicine dedicated to helping the mentally ill with legal troubles in a continuum of social systems, namely mental health care, criminal justice and corrections. Contributions of forensic psychiatry in the management of mentally ill offenders are multi-fold. Forensic psychiatrists perform three types of forensic assessment: fitness to stand trial, criminal responsibility, and dangerousness to community. Results from these assessments are crucial in legal proceedings, as judges and counsel rely heavily on the expert reports in determining the sentences. As crucial as their duty as legal expert in determining the legal outcome for mentally ill offenders is a forensic psychiatrist's responsibility as a physician. Forensic psychiatrists are key members of the clinical teams tasked with the mental health care of thus sentenced mentally ill offenders. Other ways through which the judicial system has endeavoured to meet the demands of mentally ill offenders include the introduction of various points of diversion in the forensic path of mentally ill accused and the

3.1 Deinstitutionalization

Deinstitutionalization refers to the large scaled bed cuts in mental health care that started in the 1960's and continued well into the 1990's. ³⁵ In Canada, this reduction was done mainly through closing long stay psychiatric hospitals and discharging patients into alternative care homes and communities. ³⁶ Humanitarian and financial challenges of institutionalized care for psychiatric patients, such as the public outrage against conditions of asylums and budget cuts, brought in this model with an aim to involve the broader community in a holistic treatment of mental illness. ³⁷ However, due to financial constraints and the lack of preparedness on the part of the receiving communities, the model has been generally perceived as having produced negative outcomes. Deinstitutionalization in Canada has not been followed by re-creation of matching available specialized psychiatric care. Psychiatric departments were created in general hospitals as an alternative, but this did not increase in the overall number of beds available for mental health care. Many researchers believe that deinstitutionalization merely unloaded the burden of care onto various parties such as the families of patients, other community services like nursing homes and community housing, and the criminal justice system. ³⁸

Deinstitutionalization appears to have had a particular impact on the criminal justice system. A rising crime rate immediately followed deinstitutionalization in most countries and a steep increase in psychiatric behaviours such as suicide and self-harming rates in prisons was observed in the United States. ^{39,40} In 1939, Penrose proposed the idea of an inverse relationship between mental health care and the criminal justice system, in which a decrease in supply for one increased the use of another. Penrose's Law accurately predicted the outcome of deinstitutionalization in Canada when the increased crime rate of those with mental illnesses directly followed. Furthermore, prevalence of mental illness in federal inmates has increased following deinstitutionalization. While numbers in Canada have not been clearly reported, by 2004 in the United States, where crime rate trends have been observed, mentally ill offenders incarcerated in federal prisons grew as a population by 60%, or 84% including substance abuse as a mental illness, since 1967. Some authors have gone so far as to assert that the treatment has been substituted by punishment (Liska, Markowitz et al. 1999).

3.2 Criminality

In 1972, Abramson coined the term criminalization of the mentally ill to describe the increase in the number of mentally ill persons reaching the judicial system (14). As the link between mental illness and crime became more pronounced, several mechanisms by which the two spheres might influence each other were proposed. Some scholars assert that psychiatric conditions diminish the capacity for one to understand their own actions and this increases one's chance of inadvertent violation of the law. These researchers rely on the tendency of severely ill individuals to commit disorganized rather than premeditated offences for evidence. Highly reported cases of deliberate and scheming psychiatric offenders comprise only a small fraction of crimes committed by mentally ill offenders and mentally ill offenders have been repeatedly shown to mainly commit opportunistic, minor crimes.

Lange (2011) stated that "the criminal justice system has become responsible for

controlling the occasional deviant behaviour of persons with MI". ⁴⁶ In addition, the general mental health system is more inclined to take the less aggressive and malodorous of the incoming patients. This is because the general mental health system has been originally developed to care for the general public with mental illness and not to house criminal offenders. As such, those that are most likely to run into trouble are back on the streets first ⁴⁷ and persons with major psychiatric disorders have a considerably higher risk of multiple incarcerations, especially in rural areas and northern communities. ^{46,48}

It has also been proposed that mental illness and crime often concur because they share many of the same predispositions. Developmental history, such as child abuse, and sociological factors, such as having criminal associates and coming from a low socioeconomic background, contribute to both psychiatric development and criminal offending. Differing combinations of similar genetic and developmental factors drive which of the two outcomes will be generated. It is not surprising that often it results in both of these outcomes simultaneously occurring; experience in one sphere increases the likelihood to enter the other.

Psychiatrization of criminal behaviour is an intriguing approach to explain the criminalization of the mentally ill. According to this theory, criminalization of the mentally ill is a combined result of mentally ill persons entering the judicial system as well as criminal offenders being sent to psychiatric inspection. ⁴³ Proponents of the thesis argue that a psychiatric label is affixed to individuals who commit illegal and violent behaviours, and mental illness is viewed as a result of crime in the same way criminal offending is viewed as a result of mental illness.

There are more sociological factors that collectively point to the lack of adequate accommodation for psychiatrically affected persons as a reason for the criminalization of the mentally ill. In addition to the reduction in availability of institutionalized psychiatric care, resulting from deinstitutionalization, there is also a severe lack of integrative community care programs through which the general psychiatric patients and mentally ill offenders are re-introduced and re-integrated into the community. 52 Studies have shown that mentally ill persons sometimes commit crime intentionally, in order to be brought back to incarceration settings to which they are accustomed and where they can continue to receive systematic care, or unintentionally, as a result of failure to adapt to society.⁵² It has also been found that personnel in the crime-fighting sector often assume hostile attitudes when working with mentally ill offenders. Their general belief that deviant behaviours are best dealt with by taking a firm stance, rather than treating them with an accommodating mindset, is detrimental to the prognosis of mental illness in these people.⁵² Stigmatization on mentally ill offenders also appears to be a crucial factor in criminalizing the mentally ill. Studies have shown that persons with mental illness or suspected to have mental illness are more likely to be reported and arrested rather than diverted.⁵³

Studies that investigated the causal role of mental illness on violence have mostly produced negative results. These studies have shown associations of moderate strength at best and the direction of causality is yet to be clearly established.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶

In summary, contrary to the popular belief that mental illness is conducive to violence, scientific evidence is absent.

3.3 The 1992 Reform of the Criminal Code

Fueled by the landmark case of *R v Swain*, a major reform of the Criminal Code was introduced and passed by 1992. The amendments included both conceptual ones, such as replacing the stigmatizing "insanity defence" term with a newer and more current "defence of mental disorder" term as well as procedural ones. The new label "not criminally responsible" was apparently intended to lessen the stigma of the NCR verdict but it is apparent that it is still widely misunderstood. The process through which an accused is psychiatrically evaluated and arrives at sentencing has become more humane, systemic and decentralized.⁵⁷

A definition of "unfit to stand trial" was codified, which stated the accused is unable on the account of mental disorder to understand the legal proceedings, and procedures for determining fitness were implemented.⁵⁷

A new requirement of assessment orders was added, replacing the warrants of remand. In the past, an accused suspected of being mentally unstable could be detained indefinitely on the warrant of remand whereas the assessment orders are now to be made with specified purposes and a strict cap is placed on the duration of remand. Another crucial change concerned treatment orders, which in the past dictated how the accused should be treated. Mandatory treatment orders without the accused's consent are now only given to those found unfit. ⁵⁷ The only jurisdiction for mandatory treatment of NCR offenders or even those of convicted of crimes in Canadian jurisdictions is through Provincial law which normally is entitled the Mental Health Act or, in some Provinces, through a Consent specific statute.

Quasi-judicial bodies called review boards were established to manage mentally ill offenders at a provincial-level, replacing the former Lieutenant Governor advisory board system that existed in some, but not all, provinces. Review boards were also empowered to make disposition orders, which determine whether and how the mentally ill accused should be located. They may be discharged absolutely, discharged with some requirements or detained in forensic psychiatric hospitals.³⁴

Finally, the concept of criminal responsibility replaced the system of deciding between the guilty and the innocent. For instance, an accused may be found to have diminished responsibility or not be responsible for the crime they committed on the account of mental disorder as opposed to being found not guilty, which implies that the person is not the one who committed the said offence, ⁵⁷ assuming a crime is found to have occurred.

3.4 Alternative Sentencing

Many offenders now serve their sentences in the community. There are many terms that can be attached to probation orders under a suspended sentence or discharge or conditional sentence orders. The simplest of these orders take the form of a ban, in which an abuser is separated from a victim or from an area. Such sentences are often paired with therapeutic goals as a condition of remaining in society. The Supreme Court of Canada upheld the use of hospitalization as a condition of a conditional sentence order in *R. v, Knoblauch*, 2000 SCC 58.

The most complex of deinstitutionalizing orders is a community treatment order

under a Provincial statute. A mentally ill patient and sometimes offender is ordered to receive treatment as a condition of remaining in the community. 34,57 Despite insufficient research on the effectiveness to date, community treatment orders are gaining popularity and becoming available in increasingly more jurisdictions. Provincial legislation govern the use of community treatment orders and sometimes also govern how frequently they can be used. The subsection 24.3(1) of the Saskatchewan Mental Health Services Act sets forth the criteria that must be satisfied before a psychiatrist can issue a community treatment order in Saskatchewan.⁵⁹ There are six criteria in total. First, the person must suffer from a 'mental disorder' that require treatment or care and supervision in the community setting. Second, during the past two years, the person must have been detained in an in-patient facility for a total of sixty days or longer, detained on three or more separate occasions or have been the subject of a community treatment orders on a previous occasion. The responsible psychiatrist must also have probable cause to believe that the lack of treatment and supervision may lead to harm to self or others or substantial mental or physical deterioration. The requisite services must also exist in the community and be accessible to the patient. Also, the person must be incapable of consenting but capable of complying with the treatment plan set out in the order.⁵⁹ Given these onerous and cumbersome conditions, community treatment orders are rarely used in Saskatchewan and physicians more commonly certify the patients. It has also been frequently opined by doctors working in the field that the *Mental Health Services Act* does not adequately protect them from lawsuits.8

4 Therapeutic Justice

4.1 Definition

Therapeutic jurisprudence is defined as "the use of social science to study the extent to which a legal rule or practice promotes the psychological or physical well-being of the people it affects". ⁶⁰ Therapeutic jurisprudence sustains that the law should be administered and applied in a way that incorporates therapeutic goals and that the principle of punishment is not the main concern of the court. It advocates that the law should address the main factors – the roots – of what may lead the individual to come into contact with the law. Therapeutic jurisprudence acts as a vehicle to provide a more holistic and less punitive approach, resulting in an overall more complete sense of justice. ^{47,61} It is interesting to note that some therapeutic courts actually employ quite aggressive measures that appear almost retributive along with therapeutic ones. For example, drug courts often require a guilty plea for participation and mental health courts issue community treatment orders that force mentally ill people to take medication. ^{62,47}

4.2 Restorative Jurisprudence and Other Related Concepts

Restorative justice is a concept that has been incorporated into sentencing in the Canadian justice system for many years. Restorative justice is often confused with, and used interchangeably with, the term therapeutic jurisprudence. While restorative justice can indeed achieve therapeutic outcomes, therapeutic jurisprudence is a separate concept from restorative justice. For example, restorative justice exclusively focuses on the rehabilitation of the offender while therapeutic jurisprudence usually involves mediation between victim and offender in order to assist in the victim's recovery from the trauma. For example, restorative justice exclusively involves mediation between victim and offender in order to assist in the victim's recovery from the trauma.

A closely related concept to restorative justice is community justice, which is

distinguishable based on its goal of fixing some of the underlying social problems that cause crime, a similar goal to that of therapeutic jurisprudence. ⁶³ Community justice is closely related to restorative justice and the terms are used interchangeably in literature.

Finally, it must be understood that all three of the above concepts are very different from retributive justice. This is the very traditional theory which asserts that punishment, when appropriate, is the best response to crime. ⁶³

4.3 Problem Solving Courts

Problem solving courts, also known as specialized courts and therapeutic courts, are one of many methods in which the principles of therapeutic jurisprudence are upheld.

4.3.1 Drug Treatment Courts

A significant amount of the literature available on therapeutic jurisprudence is about drug treatments courts since these were the forerunners of therapeutic courts. In fact, many of the earlier articles on therapeutic jurisprudence apply only to drug courts.

Drug treatment courts oversee cases involving drug abusing offenders who have agreed to accept treatment for their addictions. Drug treatment courts require offenders to acknowledge their addictions and accept responsibility for them. They implement a unique combination of traditional criminal justice system processes and drug treatment. They are also praised as a cost-efficient and effective way to reduce crime and improve the lives of marginalized citizens. Drug treatment courts commonly use "smart punishment" which employs only the minimum amount of punishment required to reduce criminality and drug use when the offender has a relapse or breaches the order. This is in sharp contrast with probation orders which send the offender back to the court or even imprison them in the same contingency. The emphasis is not on punishment but on altering behaviour to prevent drug use.

The first drug treatment court in Canada was established in December 1998 in Toronto. All offenders with drug related charges are eligible, but the court has a particular focus on prostitutes, youth, and visible minority groups. The court has two "tracks" or streams through which the offender goes. Track One allows non-violent offenders with minor charges to enter the drug treatment court prior to a plea and results in charges being withdrawn upon completion. Track Two is for offenders with more serious charges and requires a guilty plea. In addition, a "consent to dispense with Crown disclosure must be signed, and an agreement that the imposition of the sentence will be delayed is made." The prosecutor of the drug treatment court reviews every drug charge in Toronto, and informs the accused or their counsel if the accused is eligible. 65

Another major drug treatment court in Canada is located in Vancouver, British Columbia and was implemented over a four-year period between 2001 and 2005. All offenders charged under the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* are eligible. This court requires a guilty plea in exchange for lighter sentences. Participants are enrolled in a supervised drug treatment program that includes individual and group counseling and social activities.⁶⁶

4.3.2 Mental Health Courts

Mental health courts are criminal courts specifically designed to serve persons

with a mental illness who have come in contact with the criminal justice system. The first mental health court in the world was established in Broward County, Florida in the mid-1990s and offered treatment instead of punishment to accused with mental illness. While this mental health court was the first of its kind, mental health courts are often derived from the drug court model. Given the frequent co-occurrence of drug addiction and mental illness, some mental health courts actually replace the pre-existing drug courts. In 2010, there were more than 250 mental health courts in the United States alone. ⁶⁷

The first court in Canada that addressed the issue of mentally disordered accused in the criminal justice system opened in Toronto, Ontario in May 1998. The "diversion of mentally disordered accused" officially became part of the Crown Policy Manual in 1994. This program closely resembled those referred to as mental health courts in the US. 68 Mental health courts now exist in Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Newfoundland, other cities in Ontario, and Manitoba, which just recently opened their mental health court in May of 2012. British Columbia, Nunavut, and Yukon, are among other Canadian jurisdictions in the process of developing mental health courts. As with other types of problem solving courts, mental health courts respond to the unique needs of the population being served. 69 For example, in discussions with the Judge in charge of the Boward County mental health court the authors' were surprised to hear the suggestion that FASD is not recognized in that court. It is obvious to us, that in Saskatchewan, FASD must become part of any mental health strategy that is implemented.

4.3.3 Domestic Violence Courts

Domestic violence courts are another common type of problem solving courts in Canada. Currently, 54 domestic violence programs are in operation in Ontario alone and Manitoba, Alberta, Saskatchewan, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador and Yukon all have domestic violence courts now. One strong, positive aspect of these courts is that their existence is reassuring to victims and victims become more willing to report these crimes. To Interestingly, domestic violence courts were first established when there were no known effective treatments for partner abuse. Also, correlation between domestic violence and substance abuse has been often reported in literature. For instance, roughly half of the men enrolled in batterer's treatment programs had substance abuse problems and roughly half of the men in substance abuse treatment self-reported domestic violence.

4.3.4 Community Courts

Community courts are different from other problem solving courts because they focus on the community in which they are located, rather than the specific problem that caused the offender's behaviour. Unlike other problem solving courts which focus on a particular type of offence or offender, community courts will accept offences of almost any kind that occur within a certain geographical area including offences falling under the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act.*⁷² Community courts tend to focus on a geographical area and function in inner city areas in large metropolitan centres, but the term, like many others, is fairly ambiguous, and could also refer to those set up in rural settings like the Cree community court. While community courts are not as well equipped to deal with general ongoing problems such as drug addiction or mental illness, they are better able to address the specific problems of a particular area. For example, while drug courts can only impose therapeutic sanctions, community courts frequently impose therapeutic sanctions, community service sanctions, or job training for offenders with help from partnering community organizations.⁷²

Most of the American literature that discusses community courts focuses on the Red Hook Community Justice Center in Brooklyn, New York. This centre is located in a low-income community in which 70% of the residents live in a large housing development. The area is suffering the effects of government cuts and economic disinvestments. The centre features a court that provides a variety of sanctions, several different programs available to the community and a "problem-solving team" of court personnel. ⁷³

Most of the Canadian literature that discusses community courts focuses on the Downtown Community Court in Vancouver. This court mostly deals with most offences committed in the downtown eastside area, particularly summary offenses and drug possession charges, and employs a team-based approach to strive to "improve outcomes for offenders; implement innovative criminal case management to improve justice efficiencies; and provide new opportunities for community participation in the justice system". ⁷²

4.3.5 Indigenous or Aboriginal Courts

There are Aboriginal or indigenous courts operating in various parts of the world, but most of the available literature comes from Australia and Canada. Many of these courts have been functioning for several years and tend to rise out of both the restorative and therapeutic justice principles. Concepts employed in these courts are also increasingly being used in traditional courts. As of 2008, Indigenous Sentencing Courts operate in all jurisdictions of Australia except for Tasmania. The Gladue Court in Toronto, the Cree Courts in Saskatchewan, the Tsuu T'ina Peacemakers Court in Alberta and the Hollow Waters Healing Circles in Manitoba are in operation in Canada.⁷⁴

Canadian Aboriginal courts have broader diversion programs than seen in other problem solving courts. Only minor offenses are diverted in a typical problem solving court, but in the Tsuu T'ina Peacemakers Court, every offense except for homicide and sexual assault are eligible. The Tsuu T'ina Peacemakers Court judge may also override a prosecutor's non-consent to diversion. It is unclear how the *Criminal Code* structure is overcome, but one of the possible ways in which the court was authorized to do so would be at the permission of the Attorney General or the Lieutenant Governor of Alberta.

In Canada, these courts primarily exist to sentence Aboriginal offenders with some expertise about the cultural background of those offenders. Such cultural considerations have been required by new amendments to the *Criminal Code* such as the section 718.2(e), and interpretations of these amendments by the Supreme Court of Canada. In Saskatchewan, there has been much debate about whether or not to expand the Cree Court's substantive jurisdiction so that it can address the civil and family issues in Aboriginal people's lives that may be influencing their criminal behavior.

The Koori Court in Victoria, Australia started as a pilot project in 2002. There are currently four Koori Courts and one Children's court pilot program. These courts address many of the needs specific to Aboriginal people, leading to a reduction in recidivism and better participation of local Aboriginal communities in the legal process. Although less formal, the Koori Courts are respectful, are culturally sensitive and follow all legal procedures of the traditional court. The courts showcase Aboriginal art and share an oval shaped table in the centre. Three flags are at the front of the court, representing Australia, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander flag, respectively. The magistrate sits at the oval table

together with all other participants including the family of the defendant. The elder and respected person sits on either side of the magistrate and provides the court with advice relating to cultural matters. People do not stand for the magistrate entrance. Markers of prestige in the courtroom are dispensed with and the language is plain English.²⁵

One of the aims of the Koori Court is to have participation by the Koori community in the court process and to create sentencing orders more appropriate to Aboriginal offenders. Aboriginal elders and other respected persons of the community are invited to participate. The Courts require that an adult Koori defendant must be Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islanders and live locally. The accused must plead guilty to an offence and show intention to take responsibility for their actions. As is done in Canada, the adult Koori Court hears all cases that can be heard in the Magistrates' courts except for family violence and sexual offences. The types of charges vary from drug problems, theft, breaking and entering, possessing weapons and aggressive behaviours.

Other courts in Australia that target Aboriginal people are the Circle Sentencing Court of New South Wales and Nunga Court of South Australia. Circle sentencing was modeled after a Canadian program of the 1990s. ²⁸ Circle Sentencing in Australia most often involves an offence of common assault; the next most prevalent offences are unlicensed driving and breaching an apprehended violence order. ²⁸ Australian Indigenous Sentencing Courts are similar to community courts. The goal of these courts is to build a connection between "white justice" and Indigenous people. This is accomplished through procedures that follow the tenets of restorative justice, such as improving communication between parties, applying procedural justice, using persuasion and support to encourage offenders to be law-abiding and to avoid incarceration. ²⁸ One of the most prominent and effective methods used is to draw on the knowledge of elders or other respected individuals from the Indigenous community in which the offender is a member. The presence of these elders also aids in overcoming language barriers. Hearings also take place in a courtroom where the judge is sitting eye-level with the offender, not on an elevated bench. Courtrooms are decorated with culturally appropriate symbols of authority. ⁸⁰

4.3.6 Youth Court & Sentencing Circles

Youth courts are not problem solving courts in the traditional sense. Instead, they are a mandatory, basic branch of the traditional court system. Youth courts use the same principles of criminal justice as traditional courts except that they sentence offenders aged between 12 and 17 and that they oversee all *Criminal Code* offences under the *Youth Criminal Justice Act*. More serious offences such as murder that are committed by older youth offenders may be transferred to adult court. Nevertheless, youth courts still function in a largely therapeutic, problem-solving manner by focusing more on helping than punishing. They focus more on rehabilitation of the specific individual offender rather than deterrence and retribution. They also tend toward keeping juvenile offenders within the community instead of incarceration.²⁴

There is one specialized youth problem solving court in Canada. The Youth Mental Health Court Ottawa opened in 2008 and has a particular focus on rehabilitating the offender. It appears to be similar to basic youth courts except that it only accepts youths with mental illness. It also appears to consider drug addiction as a mental illness and places a heavy focus on charges under the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*. The court requires a guilty plea in which the accused must accept responsibility for their offense to the Crown's satisfaction. In addition, youth are sometimes subject to diversions or

extrajudicial sanctions such as section 810 orders.81

One of the main purposes for repealing the *Young Offenders Act* and enacting the *Youth Criminal Justice Act* was to reduce the number of incarcerated youth. While restorative justice practices under the *Youth Criminal Justice Act* have reduced the number of youth reaching courtrooms, there is disagreement on whether the number of youth in custody has changed.⁸¹

Literature shows that a young offender's chances of successfully readjusting to society upon release depend on with how well they adjusted to incarceration. Pre-existing vulnerabilities and fear of victimization may indicate whether a youth will well-adjust to custody. Despite the importance, it is unclear what and how factors affect a youth's adjustment to custody and to society upon release. 82

Aboriginal people have generally supported community-designed and community-based responses to offending especially where offending involves youth and have resisted incarceration. ²⁴ In British Columbia, youth aged between 12 and 17 are 9 to 10 times more likely to be in prison if they are Aboriginal. Indigenous youths in Australia are also overrepresented in the criminal justice system at a rate 23 times higher than their non-Indigenous counterparts. The police who apprehended the accused make the decision on whether to divert the youth following the criteria and procedures set out in the *Youth Justice Act*⁸³. Difficulties in mobilizing the Indigenous communities in planning and implementing the diversion system, present a challenge in Indigenous youth diversion. ⁸³

One alternative measure encouraged by the Canadian *Youth Criminal Justice Act* is a conference between offenders, victims, and members of the community at various stages in the criminal justice process according to a restorative justice concept. Conferencing can be in various forms, including Aboriginal sentencing circles, although sentencing circles are onerous and therefore are not used frequently for youths. More frequently used types of conferences are family group restorative conferences for serious or chronic offenders and youth justice committees for minor or first-time offenders. A study on victims of young offenders found that victim-offender mediation was a good experience for most victims even if the victims' initial feelings were negative.⁸⁴

4.3.7 Gambling Treatment Courts

Although it has been almost 30 years since the medical community recognized compulsive and pathological gambling as a mental illness, the legal community has been hesitant in viewing gambling as a psychiatric condition which requires special accommodation. At first, gambling was used in the United States as a reason for a "downward departure" from typical sanctions because the society encourages gambling and it would be unfair to hold gamblers independently accountable for the crimes committed in relation to gambling.⁸⁵

In 2003, the first gambling treatment court was opened in Amherst, New York. It is currently the only one of its kind and was modeled after drug treatment and domestic violence courts. The court incorporates several therapeutic justice concepts including the involvement of gambling experts and health care professionals. The Amherst court requires the defendant to plead guilty and forfeit rights to a plea bargain. All charges are dropped when the offender successfully completes the program. Upon failing to do so, the offender is returned to criminal court and charged with a felony offence. Exclusion programs have

been suggested as a possible alternative intervention for problem gamblers, but effectiveness of such programs in North America has been doubted.⁸⁶

4.3.8 Homeless Courts

Starting at San Diego, California in 1989, homeless courts are available in some jurisdictions. These court sessions are held in homeless shelters for easy access by the main clientele. These courts impose restorative or therapeutic sentences and incarceration used very rarely as an alternative sanction. This is primarily seen in the United States.⁸⁷

4.3.9 John School Diversion Programs

Therapeutic justice programs are increasingly used in prostitution-related criminal charges. Usually, this takes the form of "John school" which teaches the male clients of female prostitutes about the harms and risks of prostitution. It is argued that curbing the demand for prostitution through John schools is the most effective way to reduce prostitution altogether. Providing treatment for the female prostitutes is argued to be less effective because women involved in the sex trade are usually coerced into it. 88-90

4.4 Therapeutic Measures in Traditional Judicial System and Courts

Given various reasons such as insufficient resources and distrust in a new inititiatives, some jurisdictions choose not to establish a specialized court. Instead, they employ therapeutic measures as a part of their usual practice. In criminal justice system, some of such measures include diversion, therapeutic sentencing delays, differentiated sentencing method and alternative sentences.

4.4.1 Criminal Code Sections on Diversion & Therapeutic Sentencing Delays

As a general rule, delay of a criminal proceeding, particularly sentencing, is prohibited by common law sentencing practice. The *Criminal Code* was recently amended to allow sentencing delays in therapeutic courts. (s. 720(2).⁷⁷

All diversion programs, regardless of their format, have in their core the goal of redirecting the mentally ill from the criminal justice system to appropriate mental health care services while protecting the respective person and the public. As such, diversion can and often does result in avoiding a conviction and is actively used by the problem solving courts that do not seek a guilty plea.⁴⁷

Conditional discharges are available for offenses with minor consequences. These include offences that do not have minimum sentences or a potential sentence of over fourteen years imprisonment. These conditional discharges are often paired with a probation order with therapeutic conditions. The *Criminal Code* does not specify that such orders and sentences are to be made exclusively in therapeutic courts. Therefore, these orders can be and commonly are made in any provincial court.⁷⁷

4.4.2 Curative Discharges for Impaired Drivers

The *Criminal Code* allows for a sentencing court to enter a conditional discharge for an alcoholic who is convicted of impaired driving (S. 255(5)). However, provinces may choose not to proclaim this section and thereby voiding this option. Ontario has chosen not to proclaim this section and it is argued that proclamation of the section, along with an increased use of the ignition interlock program, could save up to 72 lives each year in Ontario. Saskatchewan has proclaimed this section of the Code.

Earlier writings on diversion programs for impaired driving charges in the US show resistance at various levels of the society to the idea of rehabilitating these people. For example, Oregon established strict limits on the circumstances under which diversion could be used for impaired drivers in 1980s and commentators have welcomed similarly tough measures in various jurisdictions. 92

4.4.3 Aboriginal Sentencing – Gladue Factors

All Canadian courts must give special cultural considerations when assessing Aboriginal people charged with a crime. This is a particularly pressing need in traditional courts. Section 718.2(e) of the Criminal Code mandates that judges apply the principles of sentencing through an alternative method of analysis. This is especially strictly required for all Aboriginal offenders regardless of their declaration status, specific Aboriginal ancestry, and places of residence. Section 718.2(e) also requires courts to order sentences that align more closely with the Aboriginal views of justice and are more likely to rehabilitate the offenders. Usually this presumably requires the implementation of some therapeutic measures without incarceration. Through the milestone case of *R v Gladue* at the Supreme Court, an analysis has been developed and termed Glaude analysis in order to assist judges in the process.

The Gladue analysis aims at focusing on the underlying factors that may have caused the crime rather than the committed crime itself. Factors to be considered include:⁷⁸

- substance abuse by the offender;
- substance abuse in the offender's family;
- poverty;
- unemployment;
- witnessing or experiencing abuse and violence;
- separation from Aboriginal culture or community; and
- whether the offender or a family member attended residential school.

Gladue analysis acknowledges a sentence for an Aboriginal offender should attempt to address these issues and mend ties between the offender, victim, and community according to the principles of restorative justice.⁷⁸

It must be noted that these sections while not guaranteeing lighter sentences for Aboriginal offenders will often have that result. All other principles of sentencing apply equally to all offenders. Also, despite the addition of s.718.2(e) and *Gladue*, many cases involving Aboriginals do not reference either. Partially in response to this problem, the Supreme Court reiterated its stance established in *Gladue* by stating that the court must consider the "gravity of the offense and the degree of responsibility" in *R v Ipeelee* ⁹³ in 2012.

5 References

Roesch, R., Ogloff, J. R. P., Hart, S. D., Dempster, R. J., Zapf, P. A. & Whittemore, K. E. (1997). The impact of Canadian Criminal Code changes on remands and assessments of fitness to stand trial and criminal responsibility in British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 42, 509–514.

² Robertson, R. G., Gupton, T., McCabe, S. B. & Bankier, R. G. (1997). Clinical and

- demographic variables related to "fitness to stand trial" assessments in Manitoba. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 42(2), 191-195.
- Komer, W. J., O'Reilly, R. L., Cernovsky, Z. & Dunbar, S. (1999). Review board outcomes for involuntary patients in provincial psychiatric hospitals. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 44(5), 495-498.
- ⁴ Kelly, M., Dunbar, S., Gray, J. E., O'Reilly, R. L. (2002). Treatment delays for involuntary psychiatric patients associated with reviews of treatment capacity. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 47(2), 181-185.
- ⁵ Livingston, J. D., Wilson, D., Tien, G. & Bond, L. (2003). A follow-up study of persons found not criminally responsible on account of mental disorder in British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 48(6), 408-415.
- Wang, X., Livingston, J. D., Brink, J. & Murphy, E. (2006). Persons found 'not criminally responsible on account of mental disorder': A comparison of British Columbia, Canada and Hunan, China. *Forensic Science International*, 164(2-3), 93-97.
- Thérien, E. (2003). Criminal code sanctions. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 94(2), 154
- ⁸ Kent-Wilkinson, A., Mela, M., Wormith, J. S & Sanders, S. L. (2012). *Needs assessment and environmental scan of forensic mental health services and programs for offenders in Saskatchewan*. Saskatoon, SK: Kent-Wilkinson.
- Stengel, E. (1959). Classification of mental disorders. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 21, 601-663.
- ¹⁰ Kessler, R. C. (2000). Psychiatric epidemiology: Selected recent advances and future directions. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 78(4), 464-474.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed., text revision). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- 62. Lempérière, T. (1995). The importance of classifications in psychiatry. *L'Encéphale*, 21(Special 5), 3-7.
- Boyle, M. (2007). The problem with diagnosis. *The Psychologists*, 20(5), 290-292.
- ¹⁴ R. Munkner. (2003) The temporal relationship between schizophrenia and crime. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*, 38(7), 347.
- Marcotte, D. E. & Markowitz, S. (2011). A cure for crime? Psychopharmaceuticals and crime trends. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 30(1), 29–56.
- Arboleda-Flórez, J.E., Love, E.J., Fick, G., O'Brien, K., Hashman, K. & Aderibigbe, Y. (1995). An epidemiological study of mental illness in a remanded population. *International Medical Journal*, 2(2), 113-126.
- Walters, G. D. (2000). Defining Addiction: Contrasting Views of Clients and Experts. *Addiction Research*, 8(3), 211-220.
- Kleinpeter, C. B. (2009). Specialty groups for drug court participants. *Journal of Groups in Addiction and Recovery*, 4, 265-287.
- Festinger, D.S. & Lamb, R. J. (1995) Treatment delay, clinic variables affect cocaine treatment dropout. *The Brown University Digest of Addiction Theory and Application*, 14(7), 11.
- Fazel, S. & Danesh, J. (2002). Serious mental disorder in 23000 prisoners: A systematic review of 62 surveys. *Lancet*, 359(9306), 545-550.
- Boulding, D. M. & Brooks, S. L. (2010). Trying differently: A relationship-centered approach to representing clients with cognitive challenges. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 33(5/6), 448-462.
- ²² Chudley, A. E., Conry, J., Cook, J. L., Loock, C., Rosales, T. & LeBlanc, N. (2005). Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: Canadian guidelines for diagnosis. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 172 (5 suppl), s1-s21.

- Government of Canada. (2006). *The human face of mental health and mental illness in Canada*. Ottawa, ON: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada.
- Douglas, H. & Corrin, J. (2010). 'A tragedy of monumental proportions': Indigenous Australians and the sentencing process. *Social & Legal Studies*, 19(2), 197-215.
- Stroud, N. (2006). Proceedings from 2005 Australian Linguistic Society Conference: Accomodating language differences: A collaborative approach to justice in the Koori court of Victoria. Victoria, Australia: Monash University.
- Lassiter, P. S. & Chang, C. Y. (2006). Perceived multicultural competency of certified substance abuse counselors. *Journal of Addictions & Offender Counseling*, 26(2), 73-83.
- ²⁷ Trevethan, S., Moore, J. & Naqitarvik, L. (2004). *The Tupiq Program for Inuit sexual offenders: A preliminary investigation*. Ottawa, ON: Research Branch, Correctional Service of Canada.
- Fitzgerald, J. (2008). *Does circle sentencing reduce Aboriginal offending?* Sydney, Australia: NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and Research.
- Shaffer, D. K. (2011). Looking inside the black box of drug courts: A meta-analytic review. *Justice Quarterly*, 28(3), 493-521.
- Grier, L. K. (2000). Identity diffusion and development among African Americans: Implications for crime and corrections. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 35, 81-94.
- Janelle, A. (2009). Promoting traditions: An evaluation of a wilderness activity among First Nations of Canada. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 17(suppl), 108-111.
- Dell, C. A. (2011) From benzos to berries: Treatment offered at an Aboriginal Youth Solvent Abuse Treatment Centre relays the importance of culture. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 56(2), 75-83.
- Arboleda-Flórez, J. (2006). Forensic psychiatry: Contemporary scope, challenges and controversies. *World Psychiatry*, 5(2), 87-91.
- Hartford, K. (2004). Evidence-based practices in diversion programs for persons with serious mental illness who are in conflict with the law: Literature review and synthesis. Retrieved November, 2010 from Canadian Mental Health Association website: http://www.ontario.cmha.ca/justice.asp?cID=5445
- Livingston, M. (1998). Update on health care in Canada: What's right, what's wrong, what's left. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, 19(3), 267-88.
- Lesage, A. D., Morissette, R., Fortier, L., Reinharz, D. & Contandriopoulos, A. P. (2000). Downsizing psychiatric hospitals: Needs for care and services of current and discharged long-stay inpatients. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 45(6), 526-532.
- Thornicroft, G. & Bebbington, P. (1989). Deinstitutionalisation from hospital closure to service development. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 155, 739-753.
- Jones, K. & Poletti, A. (1986). The Italian experience in mental health care. *Hospital Community Psychiatry*, 37, 795-802.
- Dauvergne, M. (2007). Crime statistics in Canada. Statistics Canada (Catalogue no. 85-002-X, 28(7)).
- ⁴⁰ Lurigio, A. J., Rollins, A., & Fallon, J. (2004). The effects of serious mental illness on offender reentry. *Federal Probation*, 68(2), 45-52.
- Penrose, L. S. Mental disease and crime: Outline of a comparative study of European statistics. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 18, 1.
- Beck, A. J. (2000). Prison and jail inmates at midyear 1999. *Bureau of Justice Statistics Bulletin*, NCJ 181643. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- Marcotte, D. E. & Markowitz, S. (2011). A cure for crime? Psychopharmaceuticals and crime trends. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 30(1), 29–56.
- ⁴⁴ George, D. T., Phillips, M. J., Lifshitz, M., Lionetti, T. A., Spero, D. E., Ghassemzedeh,

- N. et al. (2011). Fluoxetine treatment of alcoholic perpetrators of domestic violence: A 12-week, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled intervention study. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 72(1), 60-65.
- Link, B. G. & Stueve, A. (1995). Evidence bearing on mental illness as a possible cause of violent behavior. *Epidemiological Reviews*, 17(1), 172-181.
- Lange, S., Rehm, J. & Popova, S. (2011). The effectiveness of criminal justice diversion initiatives in North America: A systematic literature review. *International Journal of Forensic Mental Health*, 10(3), 200-214.
- Schneider, R. D., Bloom, H. & Heerema, M. (2007). *Mental Health Courts*. *Decriminalizing the Mentally ill*. Toronto, ON: Irwin Law.
- Sinha, M. (2009). An investigation into the feasibility of collecting data on the involvement of adults and youth with mental health issues in the criminal justice system. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada.
- Capaldi, D. M., & Patterson, G. R. (1991). Relation of parental transitions to boys' adjustment problems: I. A linear hypothesis. II. Mothers at risk for transitions and unskilled parenting. *Developmental Psychology*, 27, 489-504.
- Cutajar, M. C., Mullen, P. E., Ogloff, J. R., Thomas, S. D., Wells, D. L. & Spataro, J. (2010). Schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders in a cohort of sexually abused children. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 67(11), 1114-9.
- Blane D. (1995). Social determinants of health socioeconomic status, social class, and ethnicity. *American Journal of Public Health*, 85(7), 903-904.
- Lamb, R. & Weinberger, L. (1998). Persons with severe mental illness in jails and prisons: A review. *Psychiatric Services*, 49(4), 483-492. 9.
- Crocker, A.G., K. Hartford & Heslop, L. (2009). Gender differences in police encounters among persons with and without serious mental illness. *Psychiatric Services*, 60(1), 86-93.
- Hiday V A. (1995). The social context of mental illness and violence. Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 36(2), 122-137.
- Swanson, J., Borum, R., Marvin, S. & Monahan, J. (1996). Psychotic symptoms and disorders and the risk of violent behaviour in the community. Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health, 6(4), 309-329.
- Link, B. G., Stueve, A. & Phelan, J. (1998). Psychotic symptoms and violent behaviors: Probing the components of "threat/control-override" symptoms. Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology, 33(13), S55-S60.
- Swaminath, R. S., Norris, P. D., Komer, W. J. & Sidhu, G. (1993). A review of the amendments to the Criminal Code of Canada (Mental Disorder). *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 38(8), 567-570.
- Grant, I., Bone, N. & Grant, K. (2003). Canada's criminal harassment provisions: Areview of the first ten years. *Queen's Law Journal*, 29, 175-222.
- Wandzura, A. (2008). Community Treatment Orders In Saskatchewan: What went wrong?, *Saskatchewan Law Review*, 71, 269-306.
- Slobogin, C. (1995). Therapeutic jurisprudence: Five dilemmas to ponder. *Public Policy, and Law,* 1(1), 193-219.
- Frank, R. & McGuire, T. G. (2010). *Mental Health treatment and criminal justice outcomes*. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Justice Policy Institute. (2011). Addicted to court: How a growing dependence on drug courts impacts people and communities. Washington, DC: Justice Policy Institute.
- King, M. (2008). Restorative justice, therapeutic jurisprudence, and the rise of emotionally intelligent justice. *Melbourne University Law Review*, 32, 1096-1126.
- Marlowe, D. B. (2001). The verdict on drug courts and other problem-solving courts.

- Chapman Journal of Criminal Justice, 2(1), 57-96.
- ⁶⁵ Bentley, P. (2000). Canada's first drug treatment court. *Criminal Reports*, 31, 257-271.
- National Crime Prevention Centre. (2008). *Drug Treatment Court of Vancouver* (*DTCV*). Vancouver, BC: Public Safety Canada.
- Parker, L. R. (2005). Mental health courts: Moving beyond the drug court model. *Developments in Mental Health Law*, 24(1), 1-16.
- Toronto Mental Health Court. (2008). *Overview of the court*. Retrieved August 2012 from the Toronto Mental Health Court website: http://www.mentalhealthcourt.ca/pages/2/Overview.htm
- Federal-Provincial-Territorial Partnership. (2012). *Mental health strategy for corrections in Canada*. Retrieved August, 2012 from Federal-Provincial-Territorial Partnership website: http://www.cpsp.gov.sk.ca/Mental-Health-Strategy-for-Corrections-in-Canada
- Brooks, J., Gill, K. & Kellen, M. (2009). Domestic Violence Courts and Batterer's Treatment Programs. In Walker, L. E. A. (Ed.), *The Battered Woman Syndrome* (311-337). New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company.
- Thomas, M. D. & Bennet, L. (2009). The co-occurrence of substance abuse and domestic violence: a comparison of dual-problem men in substance abuse treatment and in a court-ordered batterer program. *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Addictions*, 9(3), 299-317.
- Ministry of Attorney General Justice Services Branch & Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General Corrections Branch. (2010). Downtown Community Court in Vancouver. *Interim evaluation report*. Vancouver, BC: Ministry of Attorney General Justice Services Branch & Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General Corrections Branch.
- Malkin, V. (2003). Community courts and the process of accountability: consensus and conflict at the Red Hook Community Justice Center. *American Criminal Law Review*, 40, 1573-1593.
- Friedland, H. (2009). Different Stories: Aboriginal people, order, and the failure of the criminal justice system. Saskatchewan Law Review, 72, 105-137.
- Milward, D. (2008). Making the circle stronger: An Effort to Buttress Aboriginal use of restorative justice in Canada against recent criticisms. *International Journal of Punishment and Sentencing*, 4(3), 124-160.
- Stevens, M. (2007). Lessons from the front lines in Canada's restorative justice experiment: The experience of sentencing judges. *Queen's Law Journal*, 33, 19-64.
- Criminal Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46, s. 318(1), online: Department of Justice Canada http://laws.justwice.gc.ca. Criminal Code, Revised Statutes of Canada, 1985, chapter C-46, section 318, subsection 1, cited to the online version on the Canadian government website.
- ⁷⁸ R v Gladue, [1999] 1 SCR 688, 133 CCC (3d) 385.
- Turpel-Lafond, M. E. (2005). Some thoughts on inclusion and innovation in the Saskatchewan justice system. *Saskatchewan Law Review*, 68, 293-302.
- Marchetti, E. & Daly, K. (2007). Indigenous sentencing courts: towards a theoretical and jurisprudential model. *Sydney Law Review*, 29(3), 415.
- Perkins-McVey, H. (2009). Proceedings from 2009 HSJCC Conference: *Ottawa Youth Mental Health Court: Finding hope in a courtroom*. Niagara Falls, ON: Ottawa YMHC.
- ⁸² Cesaroni, C. (2010) Understanding the adjustment of incarcerated young offenders: A Canadian example. *Youth Justice*, 10(2), 107-125.
- 83 Clough, A. R., Kim san lee, K. & Conigrave, K. M. (2008). Promising performance of

- a juvenile justice diversion programme in remote Aboriginal communities, Northern Territory, Australia. *Drug & Alcohol Review*, 27(4), 433-438.
- Hillian, D., Reitsma-Street, M. & Hackler, J. (2004). Conferencing in the Youth Criminal Justice Act of Canada: Policy developments in British Columbia, *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 46, 343.
- Lustberg, L. S. (1992). Sentencing the sick: Compulsive gambling as the basis for downward departure under the sentencing guidelines. *Seton Hall Journal of Sports Law*, 2, 51-77.
- Rychlak, R. J. & Hinshaw, C. D. (2005). From the classroom to the courtroom: therapeutic justice and the gaming industry's impact on law. *Mississippi Law Journal*, 74, 827-843.
- More, Scot. (2011). *Homeless Court Description*. Retrieved August 2012 from The City of Houston Municipal Court Homeless Court website: http://www.homelesshouston.org/hh/Homeless_Court_EN.asp?SnID=1612106876
- Lewis, J. (2010). Shifting the focus: Restorative justice and sex work. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 52(3), 285-304.
- Wortley, S. (). Vice lessons: A survey of prostitution offenders enrolled in the Toronto John School Diversion Program. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, 44, 369-402.
- Yen, I. (2008). Of Vice and Men: A new approach to eradicating sex trafficking by reducing male demand through educational programs and abolitionist legislation. *Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology*, 98(2), 658-693.
- Muttart, D. (2002). Impaired driving sentences: Part of the problem. *Motor Vehicle Reports (Articles)*, 16, 41-65.
- Amala, C. R. (1984). DUII diversion: Where have all the loopholes gone?. *Willamette Law Review*, 20, 319-334.
- ⁹³ *R v Ipeelee*, [2012] SCC 13.